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[102] Thus, in his opinion, the decisive event that caused the flood damage was the
Truck plugging the McLaughlin Bridge. In the absence of the McLaughlin Bridge, or
had the bridge been higher, the Truck would have kept moving and been carried into
the lake.

ii. Mr. Brian LaCas

[103] Mr. LaCas is a professional engineer with a specialty in hydrological
engineering. He was qualified as an expert in a number of areas including:
hydrological and hydrotechnical engineering, stream channel geomorphology, open
channel water surface profile modelling, hydraulic modeling design, field review of
clear span bridges and stream channel restoration works for steep mountain creeks,
and the standard of care of consulting engineers in British Columbia.

[104] From 1982-1988 he was employed by the Ministry of Environment and was
an engineer appointed under the Water Act performing hydrological engineering and
supervision of river restoration projects. He is now a consulting engineer specializing
in flood prevention design, flood restoration and remediation projects for rivers and

creeks.

[105] He testified that customary professional engineering standards treat public

safety as a top priority and thus cutting corners is not acceptable.
[106] Briefly, Mr. LaCas’ opinions were that:

a) Channel restoration/bridge design are the purview of hydrological and/or

hydrotechnical professional engineers;

b) A professional engineer responsible for designing a bridge such as the
MclLaughlin Bridge would take into account the land on both sides and

look for solutions that would not endanger habitable areas:

¢) Had a qualified professional engineer designed the McLaughlin Bridge
Replacement, it would have been built an additional 1.4 metres higher
than it was (and two metres higher than the original bridge height);
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d) ldeally a backup bypass channel should have been constructed so that
flood waters could be diverted into Mara Lake in the event the McLaughlin
Bridge was blocked:; and

e) Had the McLaughlin Bridge been constructed two metres higher, it is
unlikely the 2012 Flood would have caused such significant damage to the
Vinco Property.

[107] From an engineering perspective, he stated that the goal of creek restoration
after a flood is to increase the capacity of the channel! for future flows. This is usually
done by reinforcing its banks and removing aggradated sediment. In this case,
widening the creek would not have been possible because it would have encroached
on private property. Thus, it was even more important in this case that proper

engineering measures respecting the Works be followed.

[108] In his opinion, Condition ‘C’ in the McLaughlin Bridge Approval requiring
Works to be designed by a “qualified professional engineer” meant that an engineer
with qualifications related to the issue at hand (namely reinstalling a bridge over a
creek prone to debris floods) needed to be retained. This meant that Mr. McLaughlin
needed to involve a hydrotechnical engineer - not a structural engineer. In his
opinion, any engineer qualified in hydrology who visited the site would have
recognized it was on an alluvial fan and posed serious problems. That engineer
would have recognized that rebuilding the bridge 0.6 metres higher was insufficient
and that the height should have been raised, at a minimum, a further 1.4 metres.

[109] Mr. LaCas’ opinions were based on hydraulic modelling that simulated flows
in Sicamous Creek at the peak of the flood. The modelling he used included
photographic evidence of the 2012 Flood as data input. This became an area of
criticism from defence experts because it was their view that his modelling did not
take into account any sedimentation that may have occurred before the flood
peaked. Mr. LaCas disagreed. Similar to Dr. Church, Mr. LaCas’ opinion was that,
during its peak, the flow of Sicamous Creek had more than enough power to prevent

any sedimentation in the channel.
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[110] Mr. LaCas also disagreed with the defence suggestion that the standing high
lake water would have acted as a brake, slowing down the flow and causing
aggradation to occur upstream (known as the “backwater effect”). In his view,
because the flow was “supercritical”, the high momentum and velocity of the jetted
flow would have flushed everything into Mara Lake and there would have been no

backwater effect but for the Blockage.

iii. Dr. Russell Smith

[111] Dr. Smith is a hydrologist and professional engineer. He was qualified as an
expert in the following areas: snowpack and runoff hydrological modeling in
mountainous catchments areas (particularly in the interior of British Columbia), flood
frequency analysis, and field monitoring of hydrological, hydrometric and

meteorological processes.

[112] He was asked by the plaintiffs to determine, to the best of his knowledge,
what happened during the 2012 Flood in terms of timing and volume of the water

flow in Sicamous Creek. Specifically, he was asked to:

a) Prepare a clear water hydrograph from 12:00 pm on June 23, 2012 to
12:00 am on June 25, 2012;

b) Prepare a long-term hydrograph covering 1997 through 2017; and

¢) Calculate the time period for the 2012 Flood based on the annual

maximum flows produced by the long-term hydrograph.

[113] Using modelling software known as “Raven”, Dr. Smith attempted to simulate
what happened during the 2012 Flood to, in effect, duplicate the event (using his
own data collected in 2017 from the field as well as data available to him through
other sources). In crafting the model, he relied on the science of hydrology along

with his own experience, knowledge and education.

[114] Even though his models did not consider input channel roughness, channel

geometry, channel slope, water slope or any backwater effect, Dr. Smith was
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confident that his models produced a rough approximation of flow volume and timing
during the 2012 Flood.

[115] He prepared two reports. The first is dated November 30, 2017. On the eve of
submitting it, he realized there was a one-hour time lag in his modelling because he
did not account for daylight savings time. That was corrected resulting in his second
report dated January 5, 2018.

[116] He was subjected to a lengthy, intense and skillful cross-examination by

Mr. Weintraub. Dr. Smith defended his opinion in a passionate and persuasive
manner. He acknowledged the frailties of modelling in general and conceded that no
model is perfect. As he stated: “all models are wrong, but some are useful”. No
model can perfectly represent or recreate the environment, but through careful
analysis and exercising sound judgment during parameterization, models can be

valuable tools for understanding hydrological events.

[117] Dr. Smith’s modeiling results were adopted by Dr. Church and Mr. LaCas as
bases for their opinions. In other words, they relied on Dr. Smith’s hydrographs and

extrapolated their opinions from them.

b. Defendants’ Experts

[118] The defendants jointly called two liability experts, Dr. Matthias Jakob and

Dr. Younes Alila. Each were qualified in their respective fields.

i. Dr. Matthias Jakob

[119] Dr. Jakob was qualified as an expert in hydro-geomorphic processes, debris
flood hazard/risk assessment, watershed and hillslope geomorphology, fluvial and
mass movement sedimentology, alluvial fan evolution, and hydrology and hydraulic

modelling.

[120] The focus of Dr. Jakob’s work is assessing steep creek hazards and risks.
This requires extensive knowledge of fluvial sedimentology and alluvial fan

evolution. He has studied these issues in depth.
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[121] He was asked to critique the expert reports and testimony of Dr. Church and
Mr. LaCas. Interestingly, Dr. Jakob and Dr. Church are colleagues and have
collaborated on and published a number of peer-reviewed articles together.

Dr. Jakob acknowledged that Dr. Church is highly qualified in fluvial geomorphology.

He agreed with Dr. Church’s competence calculations and analysis.

[122] Dr. Jakob did, however, take issue with two aspects of Dr. Church’s evidence.
His first point of contention is that Dr. Church relied on Mr. LaCas’ cross-sections,
which Dr. Jakob believed were unreliable. Among other criticisms, he pointed out
that Mr. LaCas did not consider the possibility of aggradation in the channel before
peak flow whereas Dr. Jakob believed that pre-peak flow aggradation must have

occurred.

[123] Another point of contention was Dr. Church’s opinion that prior to the
Blockage, the flow was flushing all sediment into deep water and no aggradation
was occurring in the channel. To the contrary, Dr. Jakob believed that aggradation
was occurring prior to the Blockage, in turn causing a strong backwater effect from
the lake upstream to the McLaughlin Bridge. As more material was transported by
the ever-increasing flow, more material was introduced into the channel, thus adding
to the channel backfilling. He believes that the channel would have been infilled with
rock, sediment and other material by natural processes completely independent of

the Blockage.

[124] While not ruling out Dr. Church’s theory (that sediment, rock and other debris
were propelled over the McLaughlin Bridge thus explaining the sizable amount of
material that ended up downstream of the bridge), Dr. Jakob preferred his own
theory that a majority of the sedimentation downstream of the McLaughlin Bridge

occurred before the Blockage.

[125] It was his belief that the process of progressive erosion widened the channel
upstream of the Highway 97A Bridge. As the channel widened, the flow changed
from a deep, fast flow to a shallower, slower flow. According to Dr. Jakob, this
caused infilling of the channel through aggradation. At the same time, the velocity of
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the flow was constricted by channel narrowing at the Highway 97A Bridge, which
further contributed to the channel infilling process. To illustrate his point, he used the
analogy of four lanes of vehicles merging into one: the velocity of the vehicles must
slow down in order to merge. Similarly, the velocity of the stream must slow down as
it reaches the opening under the Highway 97A Bridge - as it does, it can no longer
carry heavier rocks and sediment which drop to the creek bed causing it to infill.

[126] As these two processes occurred, the sediment pushed the creek onto the
north side causing it to erode and overflow ultimately creating Avulsion ‘D’.

[127] Although he agreed it was theoretically possible, Dr. Jakob rejected

Dr. Church’s hypothesis that a 390 metre long sediment wedge was formed in the
channel upstream of the McLaughlin Bridge following the Blockage that caused
Avulsion ‘D', At best, he believes that such a sediment wedge might have reached
the Highway 97A Bridge.

[128] Dr. Jakob also disagreed with Dr. Smith’s calculations, largely due to the
different methodology and parameters used by Dr. Smith. Dr. Jakob used a “field
approach” whereas Dr. Smith used a “rainfall runoff’ approach. In the result,

Dr. Jakob’s flow calculations were substantially higher than those determined by

Dr. Smith. Dr. Smith’s calculations were relied upon by Mr. LaCas in his analysis and
then further relied upon by Dr. Church who used Mr. LaCas’ results to form his
opinions. Dr. Jakob’s point is that because Dr. Smith's calculations were flawed, the

reports and opinions that relied on those calculations are also flawed.

[129] In sum, Dr. Jakob’s opinion is that the damage suffered to the Vinco Property
was inevitable given the magnitude of the debris flood. He believes that Avulsion ‘D’
is unrelated to the McLaughlin Bridge and Channel Restoration. Additionally,
because Mara Lake was so high at the time, he believes Avulsion ‘A’ would have
occurred even in the absence of the McLaughlin Bridge. He agreed, however, that
some of the flooding caused by Avulsion ‘A’ was probably enhanced by the
Blockage.
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ii. Dr. Younes Alila

[130] Dr. Alila is a professional engineer and professor of hydrology at the Faculty
of Forestry at the University of British Columbia. He was qualified as an expert in
event-based and long-term hydrological modelling. Dr. Alila was retained to review
and critique the reports of Dr. Smith and Mr. LaCas.

[131] While he has no personal experience with the specific modelling program
used by Mr. LaCas, he has vast experience in modelling generally. He had no
quarrel with Dr. Church’s report and generally did not comment on it (his one area of
disagreement was that Dr. Church relied on the peak flow analyses provided by

Mr. LaCas and Dr. Smith). He agreed that Dr. Church’s opinion was outside his area

of expertise.

[132] Dr. Alila visited the lower fan of Sicamous Creek in April 2016, spending a
number of hours touring the delta. He did not go into the watershed. He did not take
any measurements nor did he record any observations such as tree height, species,
slope gradients, slope aspects, or soil — all of which he agreed have features

important to understanding the watershed processes.

[133] Nonetheless, he was critical of Dr. Smith’s predictions largely because, in his
view, Dr. Smith’s modelling was highly dependant on unreliable and suspect inputs
and calibrations. Consequently, Dr. Alila’s opinion was that Dr. Smith’s predicted

flows for the 2012 Flood were invalid. He stated:

In summary, the overall integrity of the entire modeling exercise conducted by
[Dr. Smith] is highly questionable, as it suffers from the [garbage in, garbage
out] syndrome as ‘nonsense input data produces nonsense output or garbage
... that leads to ‘arguments [that] are unsound if their premises are flawed".

[Emphasis added.]

[134] In his opinion, it was impossible to determine whether the creek’s discharge
(as seen from the photographs) would be higher or lower than Dr. Smith’s models
without further reference to detailed hydraulic modeling of the entire reach of

Sicamous Creek.
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[135] The seven points of disagreement Dr. Alila had with Dr. Smith’s opinion can

be summarized as follows:

a) Dr. Smith made errors in the coding of radar precipitation that resulted in
major amplifications on the predictions of the 1997 and 2012 flood flows.
As a result, the Raven model predictions were inflated by over 76% and
are therefore unreliable.

b) Dr. Smith used measured flows in 2017 to calibrate the Raven model. By
exaggerating the amount of rain over the Sicamous watershed using
radar, the entire calibration process was compromised.

¢) The Raven model suffers from “‘overfitting”/"over-parameterizations”. Put
another way, the greater the number of parameters being used, the
greater the chance for inaccuracy. Dr. Smith compared field
measurements in 2017 with Raven predictions using various calibrations
and he picked the one he thought was the best fit. Using this method,
there is no assurance that the predictions are real or accurate.

d) Dr. Smith did not validate the Raven model by using the accepted “split-
sample experiment” which he says is crucial to building confidence in
model.

e) Dr. Smith used the Raven model to simulate 2017 flows and compared
them to his observed field measurements. When the two were close, he
decided the Raven parameters would be used for his other predictions.
According to Dr. Alila, this method is only valid for predicting low and
moderate flows, not peak flows. In Dr. Alila’s view, it was improper to
extrapolate the model to predict peak flows the way that Dr. Smith did.

f) Dr. Smith determined that the best fit for the 2012 Flood corresponded to
the Radar Medium scenario using the process of elimination. He
incorrectly eliminated Radar High, Radar Low and two other scenarios on
the basis of his professional judgment, however there were too many
unknown and uncertain variables in the process for him to have validly
selected Radar Medium to the exclusion of others. The range of rain
provided by Environment Canada through radar is not meant to be
interpreted as a probability precipitation.

[136] Dr. Alila similarly had misgivings regarding Mr. LaCas' opinions. There are
essentially two areas of disagreement Dr. Alila has with Mr. LaCas’ opinion: (1) how
he coded the geometry of the Sicamous Creek channel, and (2) his selection of what
is known as the “Manning n coefficient” relating to channel roughness. Getting both

of these criteria correct, he says, is critical to a model's reliability.
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[137] He criticized Mr. LaCas for an alleged lack of transparency in his calculations.
According to Dr. Alila, the calculations lacked detail and left him guessing as to how
he arrived at some of his conclusions. Further, he was critical of Mr. LaCas for
making professional “judgment calls” in parameterizing his model. Further,

Mr. LaCas had not performed a “sensitivity analysis”, which Dr. Alila believed was
necessary. As he put it, “the devil is in the detail” and the detail was not put into the

models.

[138] My impression of Dr. Alila’s critique was that he expecting scientific certainty.
Therefore, because Dr. Smith and Mr. LaCas exercised a certain degree of
discretion, their opinions were not valid. As explained later in these reasons,
however, scientific certainty is not the goal in these types of models. Rather, models
are prediction tools. Scientific certainty is also not the standard of proof required to

decide the issues in this case.

VIl. THE PARTIES POSITIONS

a. Plaintiffs’ Position

[139] The plaintiffs summarize their claim as follows:

a) To the defendants’ knowledge, the channel opening under the McLaughlin
Bridge was woefully inadequate. Had it been properly designed by a
qualified professional engineer, the Blockage would not have occurred
and the damage caused by the 2012 Flood would have been minimal

and/or non-existent;

b) When the McLaughlin Bridge was reinstalled, all three defendants
exercised control over its height but nobody took responsibility for its
proper design. Instead, they turned a blind eye to the issues involving the

McLaughlin Bridge’s height;

¢) The McLaughlin Bridge Replacement and the Channel Restoration were
complex, risky activities that should have been carried out with design and
construction oversight from a qualified professional engineer. Failure to
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[140]

9)

engage a qualified professional engineer resulted in a channel that was
materially smaller (both in terms of depth and width} than the pre-1997
Flood channel and in an inadequate opening under the McLaughlin
Bridge;

The defendants all knew, or ought to have known, that their failure to
engage a qualified professional engineer in the design of the Works would
likely result in severe flooding and damage to the Vinco Property;

As members of a reasonably foreseeable class of persons that could be
affected by future flooding, the defendants owed the plaintiffs a duty of
care to ensure the Works were properly designed:;

Specifically, the Province in turning a blind eye to the fact that the Works
would be completed without satisfying the mandatory Approval conditions
acted in bad faith and therefore cannot hide behind the Water Act's

privative clause;

The Channel Restoration and the McLaughlin Bridge Replacement were
not performed in accordance with the strict conditions set out in the
Approvals and improper shortcuts were taken. Therefore, the provisions of
s. 21 of the Water Act make the McLaughlins and the District strictly liable
to the plaintiffs for the 2012 Flood damage; and

The 2012 Flood was not an overwhelming flood. Thus, but for the failure
of the District, the McLaughlins, and the Province to ensure the Works
were properly designed and constructed, the 2012 Flood would have
passed with, at worst, only minor damage to the Vinco Property.

The plaintiffs make these key points in support of their claims:

a)

Following the completion of the Works, the Sicamous Creek channel at

the Mclaughlin Bridge was shallower and narrower than it was before the
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1997 Flood. In other words, the McLaughlin Bridge was reinstalled closer

to the bed of Sicamous Creek than it had been prior;

b) Had the District not crowded the channel with round riprap, it would have
been wider. Further, had the District dredged the creek closer to its
original elevation, it would have been deeper and the Truck would have
passed and the Blockage would not have occurred. Following the Channel
Restoration, the channel was, in the words of Mr. Doyle, “way too

constricted, way too narrow”;

c) Before the Truck arrived, the 2012 Flood had effectively reached its peak
and was fully contained within the Sicamous Creek channel:

d) The plaintiffs’ experts should be preferred because they were better
qualified and more engaged than the defendants’ experts with the

evidence of what happened during the 2012 Flood: and

e) The eyewitness, video and photographic evidence supports the plaintiffs’

theory of causation.

[141] The plaintiffs further submit that causation of the damage to the Vinco
Property is established with respect to the Works for the following reasons:

a) The reconstructed banks and bed of the Sicamous Creek were not
hydraulically stable or adequately protected from erosion. As predicted by
Mr. Doyle, this caused the bed and banks to be mobilized by the flood
waters thus exacerbating the Blockage and, in turn, the subsequent

infilling of the channel;

b) The Blockage was the cause of the overbank flow that rapidly eroded the

north bank and significantly exacerbated Avulsion ‘A’; and

c) Avulsion 'D’ was a direct result of the upstream channel infilling caused by

the Blockage.
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[142] Waterway says all three defendants are to be blamed for this.

b. The Defendants’ Positions Generally

(143] The defendants say that the 2012 Flood was so massive that it would have
overwhelmed the channel in any event of the defendants’ alleged negligence. They
say that the backwater effect caused by the high level of Mara Lake resulted in
substantial aggradation upstream to the point that the channe! would have been
almost fully infilled and flooding of the Vinco Property would have occurred

regardless of the Blockage.

[144] The defendants all say that even if Avulsion ‘A’ can be attributed to the
Blockage, by far the most severe damage caused to the Vinco Property was due to
Avulsion ‘D" which was completely unrelated to Blockage and caused by naturally
occurring phenomenon. They argue that Sicamous Creek was almost fully infilled
right up to the McLaughlin Bridge before the Blockage occurred and thus, there was
no room in the channel for the substantial flow of the creek in any event. They say
that debris and the Truck may have exacerbated the Blockage but did not cause

Avulsion ‘A’

i. Province’s Position

[145] The Province does not dispute that Waterway suffered damages from the
2012 Flood. It does dispute, however, that it owed a duty of care to any of the
plaintiffs or that the plaintiffs can maintain a successful claim in negligence or
nuisance against it. At all times, the Province maintains that it acted well within its
statutory responsibilities and authority under the Water Act and PEP.

[146] The Province says that the Sicamous Creek is an active alluvial fan and as
such, the risks of such a flood were inherent to anyone owning property or locating a
business in that area. The plaintiffs knew of and voluntarily assumed that risk when
they relocated Waterway to the Vinco Property. Indeed, as a result of commissioning
the EBA Reports in 2007, Vinco and Waterway knew there was a moderate to high

risk of a debris flood occurring.
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[147] Waterway complains that the Province’s actions in allowing the McLaughlin
Bridge Replacement and the Channel Restoration stepped outside the four corners
of its statutory responsibilities under the Water Act and the Emergency Program Act.
The Province says, to the contrary, that its actions in 1997 and 1998 were part of a
legitimate response to an emergency situation impacting local properties and
infrastructure. This, the Province submits, was well within its mandate and consistent

with its responsibilities.

[148] The Province says that the plaintiffs are attempting to assert a positive duty
on the Province to assume responsibility for the design of the Works. This, the
Province says, cannot be sustained because its function was merely as a public
regulator and benefit provider — not as a party close enough in proximity to create a

private law duty of care.

[149] Further, the Province submits that this Court should not second-guess

Mr. Doyle’s judgment who at all times was acting in a quasi-judicial decision-making
function as a regulator. Given the unique, institutional role of approving officers
under the Water Act and the broad discretion they are afforded, the Province
submits that it would be wrong for this Court to adopt the standards as suggested by
the plaintiffs.

[150] The Province is not an insurer for damages caused by floods. It provides
some financial assistance to qualifying businesses and persons under the PEP, but
the scope of that funding is limited to prescribed eligible expenses. Generally,
financial assistance is available to restore property to its pre-flood condition. It does

not fund enhancements or new flood protection infrastructure.

[151] Evenif a duty of care is found, the Province submits that the standard of care
cannot, as the plaintiff suggests, be a “best practises of a consulting qualified

professional engineer” standard.

[152] Even further, the Province says that the plaintiffs have failed to prove

causation on a “but for” standard. The Province says that the consensus between
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the experts is that even without the presence of the McLaughlin Bridge, the Vinco
Property would have been heavily impacted by the 2012 Flood.

[153] The Province relies on the defence experts who say:

a) That the high water level of Mara Lake created the backwater effect that
extended to the McLaughlin Bridge causing sediment to be deposited in
the channel to the point that the flow exceeded the channel capacity and
overflowed its banks; and

b) That the avulsions were unrelated to the Blockage, each occurring as the
result of local sedimentation in the channel bed and/or flow
blockage/constriction at the Highway 97A Bridge.

[154] The hypothetical “non-negligent” conduct suggested by the plaintiffs would
have required the Province to:

a) Have pre-1997 Flood cross-sections of Sicamous Creek prepared prior to
the Channel Restoration;

b) Insist that the District approve the reconstruction of the McLaughlin
Bridge; and

¢) Require Mr. McLaughlin to have the bridge designed by a qualified

professional engineer.

[155] The Province says that there simply has been no causal link between these
requirements and the plaintiffs’ losses.

[156] Alternatively, if causation is found, damages to be assessed against the
Province should be nominal. The Province relies on Dr. Jakob's theory of the event
that the Vinco Property would have suffered damage regardless.

[157] Finally, the Province submits that the losses claimed for pure economic
losses by the Individual Houseboat Owners are not recoverable as a matter of law.
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Further, their claim for relational economic loss also fails because they do not fall
within one of the exceptions to the general rule that pure economic loss is not
recoverable: Martel Building Ltd. v. Canada, 2000 SCC 60 at paras. 36-38.

il. The District’s Position

[158] The District adopts the Province's submissions on causation.

[159] The District says that Mr. Doyle's balancing of the various competing interests
was a proper exercise of his discretion and his mode of proceeding cannot be
challenged by the plaintiffs. That balancing is distilled in the Approvals and is
protected by the Water Act’s s. 49 privative clause.

[160] Further, the evidence shows that whatever the District was obliged to do
under the Channel Restoration Approval, it did within its four corners of its statutory
and legal duties and within the physical and economic constraints it faced. For the
District to have done more would have amounted to a breach of the Approval
conditions and a possible actionable trespass on the land of the Province and the
land of the private owners. Given the physical constraints, the channel could not
realistically have been dredged any deeper or made any wider than the Approval
permitted. The fact of the matter was that the channel was ‘way too constricted, way
too narrow”. There was nothing other than a full scale reconstruction of Sicamous
Creek that could have solved the problem. Such a construction was well beyond the

District’s mandate and ability to fund.

[161] Initially, Mr. Doyle requested cross-sections from the District. The District
concedes they were not forthcoming. Though the plaintiffs say that the District
should be fauited for this, the District argues that the pre-1997 Flood Sicamous
Creek cross-sections were not known with precision and would have been
approximated in any event. When Mr. Doyle attended the February 28, 1998 site
meeting, he was apparently content to rely on the rudimentary Harding Sketches.
Mr. Doyle could have insisted on the cross-sections but exercised his discretion not

to. In any event, s. 9 of the Water Act refers to “conditions in writing”. There was no
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condition that cross-sections be provided. The Approval gave no dimensions and
only stated that the channel could not be dredged more than one metre.

[162] Further, it is not reasonable to expect an approval holder to guess what
conditions in an approval mean. Section 41 of the Water Act imposes stiff civil and
criminal sanctions for breaching an order or condition and it would be grossly unfair
to imply conditions that were not explicitly set in writing. In situations where there are
penal consequences, the orders and conditions must be construed narrowly.
Conditions cannot be added by implication: Be// ExpressVu Limited Partnership v.
Rex, 2002 SCC 42.

[163] On their face, the Approvals were ambiguous in terms of what the District and
the Mclaughlins were required to do in the circumstances. The contra proferentem
rule requires that any ambiguities be construed in favor of the District and the

McLaughlins.

[164] The District asserts that it was merely an Approval holder and reminds the
Court that it was not an owner of Sicamous Creek or of the land on either side of the
McLaughlin Bridge. Without the issuance of the Approval, the District had no
obligation to be involved in the post-1997 Flood remediation efforts. Therefore, its
obligations are confined to the terms and conditions of the Approval.

[165] It argues that to make the creek deeper and wider would have required
professional engineering. This would have, in effect, meant that the District would
have had to question the wisdom of the orders issued by Mr. Doyle and the
conditions he deemed advisable. They were not required to do so. Section 21
requires only that they take reasonable care in the works performed in accordance

with the Approval.

[166] The District summed up the plaintiffs’ case this way:

...The extra work sought by the plaintiffs is inconsistent with the Province's
mandate. There is no ability for this court to conclude this extra work would
ever have been approved under the Water Act and therefore could not be
completed without committing an offence under the Water Act. ..
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In truth, this is the heart of the plaintiffs' claim. Their complaint traces back to
this very beginning; The Province, with knowledge of the risk to the Vinco
property, simply should have expanded its mandate and the available
financial resources. Without an expansion of that mandate, none of the work
the plaintiffs say should have been performed could have been.

[167] Finally, the District agrees with the Province that the Individual Houseboat

Owners have no ability to claim in public or private nuisance because they are not

landowners and have no legal interest in the Vinco Property.

iii. The McLaughlins’ Position

[168] The McLaughlins also adopt the Province’s submissions on causation.

[169] They say that the bridge height was a matter negotiated between the
Province and the District to their exclusion. They submit that they simply performed
the requirements imposed on them as they understood them and that their conduct

was reasonable throughout. They argue that:

a) The plaintiffs have failed to prove that “but for’ the McLaughlin Bridge,

their damage would not have happened:

b) Section 21 of the Water Act must be read conjunctively and therefore, the
McLaughlins are only responsible for damage if they are found not to have

exercised reasonable care;

c) Inany event of s. 21, they cannot be held liable because the defence of
statutory authority protects them from strict liability. This defence is based
on the fact that the bridge re-installation was authorized because there
was no other practical alternative to provide them with access to their

property;

d) Principles surrounding public welfare offences and punishment ought not
to be inflicted on those who act reasonably and are without fault;
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e) The plaintiffs failed to act reasonably by relocating their business to the
Vinco Property in the face of significant and known risks. If any liability is
found, Vinco and Waterway should be found contributorily negligent; and

f) Save for Vinco and Waterway, the plaintiffs have no standing to sue for

pure economic loss.

[170] The McLaughlins contend that in any event of my interpretation of s. 21 of the
Water Act, their actions were reasonable and they are entitled to the defence of due
diligence. They argue that even if the Water Act imposes strict liability, it should be
treated as a public welfare offence of a civil nature and punishment should not be
inflicted on them: R. v. Sault Ste. Marie (City), [1978] 2 S.C.R. 1299.

Vill. DISCUSSION

[171] The Water Act is at the forefront of this case. It is a statute that has been on

the books since at least the early 1900s and has evolved over time.

[172] In simple terms, it vests ownership of all provincial waters (including streams,
rivers and creeks) in the Province and provides that any construction completed in or
around provincial waterways must be approved by the Province and completed in
accordance with any conditions or terms set by the Province. Failure to perform work

on those conditions can attract liability for any damage caused by works completed.

[173] The relevant definitions of the Water Act as it existed in 1997 and 1998 are:

“approval” means an approval of the ...engineer under section...9;
“changes in and about a stream” means

(a) any madification to the nature of a stream...or flow of water within
a stream, or

(b) any activity or construction within the stream channel that has or
may have an impact on a stream;

“engineer” means a professional engineer employed by the government and
designated in writing by the comptroller as an engineer and includes a
regional water manager;

“owner” means a person entitled to possession of any land...and includes a
person who has a substantial interest in the land...;
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“stream channel” means the bed of a steam and the banks of a stream,
whether above or below the natural boundary and whether usually containing
water or not, including all side channels;

“works” means

(c) obstructions placed in or removed from streams banks or beds of
streams, and

(d) changes in and about a stream.

[174] The relevant sections of the Water Act as it existed in 1997 and 1998 are:

2(1) The property in and the right to the use and flow of all the water at any
time in a stream in British Columbia are for all purposes vested in the
government.

9(1) ...an engineer may grant an approval in writing authorizing on the
conditions he or she considers advisable

(a) a person to make changes in and about a stream . . .

(2) A ... person ... may only make changes in and about a stream in
accordance with an approval under this section. . . .

18(4) ...an engineer may amend an approval granted under section 9, on the
conditions he or she considers advisable.

21(1) A licensee, holder of an approval or person who makes a change in
and about a stream in accordance with the regulations must

(a) exercise reasonable care to avoid damaging land, works, trees or
other property, and

(b) make full compensation to the owners for damage or loss resulting
from construction, maintenance, use, operation or failure of the works.

39(1) In addition to all other powers given under this Act... an engineer may
do one or more of the following:

(d) order the repair, alteration, improvement, removal of or addition to
any works:

(e) order the restoration or remediation of any changes in and about a
stream; . ..

(2) An order under subsection (1) may be made subject to any conditions
the engineer considers advisable.
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48 An action may not be brought against ... a[n] engineer ...for anything done
or left undone by that person in good faith in the performance or intended
performance of an authority conferred or duty imposed under this Act or the
regulations.

49 ... a[n]...orderof ... [an] engineer must not be questioned, reviewed or
restrained by . . . a proceeding . . . in any court . . .

[175] For the purposes of this case, ss. 9 and 21 of the Water Act are especially
relevant. Section 9 authorizes the Province'’s engineer to approve works in or around
a stream on conditions he or she considers advisable. Section 21 imposes liability
on a holder of an approval issued under s. 9 to make full compensation to owners

(as defined in the Water Act) for damage caused by works.

[176] Itis on the backdrop of these two sections that the plaintiffs claim full
compensation for the damage caused by the 2012 Flood.

[177] The photographic and video evidence along with the oral testimony | have
heard leaves no doubt that the term “catastrophic” is an apt description of the 2012
Flood. It caused devastating damage not only to the Vinco Property and Waterway
business, but to Highway 97A, the Highway 97A Bridge and numerous other
properties bordering Sicamous Creek. It was similar in nature but more severe than
the 1997 Flood.

[178] Distilled for simplicity, the 1997 Flood was caused by substantial debris piling
up against the upstream side of the former McLaughlin Bridge causing water to
breach the banks of Sicamous Creek. The flooding was significant enough that a
decision was made to remove the former MclLaughlin Bridge entirely to allow the
debris and flood waters to discharge into Mara Lake.

[179] After the 1997 Fiood, Mr. Doyle foresaw the problem with the reinstallation of
the McLaughlin Bridge because of its “terrible” location over a creek channel that
from a potential flooding perspective was already compromised. As an engineer
appointed under the Water Act, Mr. Doyle was called upon to use his engineering

judgment and consider other relevant factors such as available PEP funding, the
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reconstruction of Mervyn Road and the rights of the McLaughlins and the Maurers.
Faced with significant physical and economic obstacles, Mr. Doyle actively worked

with the stakeholders to come up with a solution.

[180] The plaintiffs’ claim is essentially that Mr. Doyle allowed for a minimal “Band-
Aid” solution to a larger problem that he knew would arise in the future. By issuing
the Approvals against his better judgment, Mr. Doyle breached the duty of care he
owed the plaintiffs as future adjacent property and business owners.

[181] The plaintiffs say that Mr. Doyle’s decisions respecting the Approvals were
not in accordance with what he “considered advisable” from an engineering

perspective. When the Works were not completed to Mr. Dovyle's satisfaction, the
plaintiffs submit that he took a hands-off/not my problem” approach, crossed his

fingers and closed the books.

[182] Therefore, as against the Province, at issue is first whether Mr. Doyle's
balancing act can be called into question as a Water Act engineer charged with
exercising his discretion under s. 9. Secondly, whether Mr. Doyle was obliged to
take any action after completion of the Channel Restoration and McLaughlin Bridge
Replacement when he was dissatisfied with the results. The resolution of these
issues requires consideration of whether the Province owed a duty of care to the
plaintiffs, and if so, whether that duty was breached.

[183] As against the District and the McLaughlins, at issue is first whether they
owed the plaintiffs a duty of care, and if so, whether that duty was breached.
Secondly, whether s. 21 of the Water Act imposes liability (either in nuisance or as
strict liability) upon them for any damage caused by the Channel Restoration and/or
the McLaughlin Bridge Replacement.

[184] If liability is found against any of the defendants, the plaintiffs must then prove

causation and damages.



Waterway Houseboats Ltd. v. British Columbia Page 54

IX.  OVERVIEW OF LIABILITY

[185] As against the Province, liability in this case can be determined in accordance
with the law of negligence. To determine this liability, | must establish what duty, if
any, Mr. Doyle (as an engineer appointed under the Water Act) owed to the plaintiffs

(as future owners and occupiers of the Vinco Property).

[186] As against the McLaughlins and the District, liability can be determined on the
basis of s. 21 of the Water Act because they were both approval holders under s. 9.

[187] Accordingly, | will focus my analysis on the law of negligence and the Water
Act. Though not necessary for the disposition of this case, | will nonetheless deal
with the issues of nuisance and joint torfeasorship in the event that | am wrong in my

findings.

[188] Additionally, the defendants have filed third party notices against each other
each seeking contribution and/or indemnity from other defendants in the event that

they are found liable. | will deal with these issues later in these reasons.

(189] If liability is found against any of the defendants, they assert that Waterway
and Vinco must be found contributorily negligent for relocating their business in an
area they knew, or ought to have known, to be prone to debris floods. | will also deal

with this issue later on in these reasons.

X. ISSUES

[190] The issues are:

a) Firstly, whether the Province is liable in negligence. There are some sub-

issues under this part:

i.  Whether the Province owed the plaintiffs a duty of care. This will

include foreseeability and proximity analyses.

ii. Ifthere is a duty of care, whether the Province breached the standard

of care;
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b) Secondly, whether the McLaughlins and/or the District are liable under
s. 21 of the Water Act,

c) Thirdly, whether the plaintiffs have a claim in either public or private
nuisance;

d) Fourthly, whether the plaintiffs have proven causation; and
e) Finally, the measure of damages if applicable.

XI. LIABILITY IN NEGLIGENCE

[191] Conduct is negligent if it creates an unreasonable risk of harm. In measuring
whether the risk of harm is an unreasonable one, the Court must balance the danger
created by the defendant’s conduct on the one hand and the utility of that conduct on
the other. If the hazard outweighs the social value of the activity, liability is imposed;
if it does not, the defendant is exonerated.

[192] In assessing the risk, the Court looks at two components: (1) the chance or
likelihood that the harm will culminate, and (2) the gravity or severity of the potential
harm that will ensue if the risk unfolds: A. Linden, B. Feldthusen et al., Canadian
Tort Law, 11th ed. (Toronto: LexisNexis, 2018) at 159.

[193] Itis well settled that proof of a claim in negligence requires the plaintiff to
demonstrate that:

a) The defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of care;

b) The defendant's behaviour breached the requisite standard of care;

¢) The plaintiff suffered damage; and

d) The damage was caused, in fact and in law, by the defendant's breach.

Mustapha v. Culligan of Canada Ltd., 2008 SCC 27 at para. 3 [Mustapha]; Childs v.
Desormeaux, 2006 SCC 18 at para. 13 [Childs]; Deloitte & Touche v. Livent Inc.
(Receiver of), 2017 SCC 63 at para. 77 [Deloitte).
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a. Duty of Care

[194] The test to establish a duty of care was summarized by the Court of Appeal in
Carhoun & Sons Enterprises Ltd. v. Canada (Attorney General), 2015 BCCA 163
[Carhoun] at para. 50 as follows:

[60]  The test for determining the existence of a private duty of care owed
by a public authority is known as the “Anns/Cooper” test: Cooper v. Hobart,
2001 SCC 79. The test requires a court to address the analysis by
considering the following series of questions:

1) Does a sufficiently analogous precedent exist that definitively
found the existence or non-existence of a duty of care in these
circumstances;

If not;
2) Was the harm suffered by the plaintiff reasonably foreseeable;
If yes;

3) Was there a relationship of sufficient proximity between the
plaintiff and the defendant such that it would be just to impose a
duty of care in these circumstances;

If yes, a prima facie duty arises;

4) Are there any residual policy reasons for negating the prima facie
duty of care established in question/step 3, aside from any policy
considerations that arise naturally out of a consideration of
proximity.

If not, then a novel duty of care is found to exist.

i. Is There a Significantly Analogous Precedent?

[195] All parties agree that the plaintiffs’ allegations do not fall within a settied
category that the courts have recognized as giving rise to a duty of care.
Accordingly, a full Anns/Cooper duty of care analysis is required: Defoitte; Rankin
(Rankin’s Garage & Sales) v. J.J., 2018 SCC 19 [Rankin).

ii. Was the Harm Suffered by the Plaintiffs Reasonably Foreseeable?

[196] Here, the question is whether it was reasonably foreseeable that the
undersized channel opening (caused by a combination of the Channel Restoration
and the McLaughlin Bridge Replacement) would result in the Blockage and ensuing
flood.
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[197] The defendants concede that flooding to the Vinco Property was generally
within Mr. Doyle’s contemplation when he issued the Approvals. After the 1997
Flood, My. Doyle had direct knowledge of the damage that a blockage of the
McLaughlin Bridge could cause. He knew the McLaughlin Bridge was a problem and
that if the channel opening was not large enough, the problem would be repeated.

[198] Therefore, the flooding was reasonably foreseeable. Mr. Doyle recognized
that Sicamous Creek was a dormant volcano and that it was a matter of when, not if,
it was going to erupt. He foresaw the risk that the Works could, and likely would,
result in a blockage of the McLaughlin Bridge causing Sicamous Creek to overflow

its banks.

[188] The Province denies, however, that Mr. Doyle ought to have realized that the
District and the McLaughlins were relying on him as a bridge design engineer as
opposed to just a regulator. Citing Deloitte, the Province argues that the reasonable
foreseeability of the McLaughlins’ and District's reliance on Mr. Doyle must be
determined by the relationship of proximity between the parties and the scope of the
Province's undertaking. At para. 35 of Deloitte, the Supreme Court of Canada

stated:

[35]  As a matter of first principles, it must be borne in mind that an injury to
the plaintiff in this sort of case flows from the fact that he or she detrimentally
relied on the defendant’s undertaking, whether it take the form of a
representation or the performance of a service. It follows that an injury to the
plaintiff will be reasonably foreseeable if (1) the defendant should have
reasonably foreseen that the plaintiff would rely on his or her representation;
and (2) such reliance would, in the particular circumstances of the case, be
reasonable (Hercules, at para. 27). Both the reasonableness and the
reasonable foreseeability of the plaintiff's reliance will be determined by the
relationship of proximity between the parties; a plaintiff has a right to rely on a
defendant to act with reasonable care for the particular purpose of the
defendant’s undertaking, and his or her reliance on the defendant for that
purpose is therefore both reasonable and reasonably foreseeable. But a
plaintiff has no right to rely on a defendant for any other purpose, because
such reliance would fall outside the scope of the defendant’s undertaking. As
such, any consequent injury could not have been reasonably foreseeable.

[Emphasis added.)
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[200] [ conclude that Mr. Doyle's capitulation on the bridge height being “at least 0.6
metres higher” demonstrates that he knew or ought to have known that the District
(and through the District, the McLaughlins) would accept that height as design

advice.

[201] 1 also conclude that the Province and District expected that the McLaughlins
would rely on Mr. Doyle's expertise with respect to the bridge height.

Mr. McLaughlin’s evidence, which | accept on the point, was that the bridge height
issue was a debate that the District and Province were engaged in to his exclusion.
He simply wanted his bridge replaced, the details of which were being worked out by

others.

[202] While | agree that it was not reasonably foreseeable that the Truck would fall
into Sicamous Creek and cause the Blockage, it was reasonably foreseeable that a
blockage of some kind would occur, be it by trees, large rocks, or a combination of

other debris. That was the reason behind Mr. Doyle’s concern with the McLaughlin

Bridge height. Future neighbours in the area should have been in Mr. Doyle's mind

when he approved the Works.

iii. Was There a Relationship of Sufficient Proximity?

[203] Foreseeability of harm is not enough to ground a duty of care. The plaintiffs
must still establish that there was a sufficiently “close and direct” relationship that
makes it “just and fair" to impose a duty of care in law: Deloitte at para. 25. These
concerns are heightened in claims for economic loss: R. v. Imperial Tobacco
Canada Ltd., 2011 SCC 42 [Imperial Tobacco] at para. 42.

[204] The Province argues that, in relation to itself and the plaintiffs, the factors
giving rise to proximity, if they exist, must arise from statute. The Province argues
that nothing in the Water Act or the Emergency Program Act evinces any intent to
create a private law duty of care. To the contrary, it says, both statutes contain
provisions intended to protect engineering decisions from judicial scrutiny.
Therefore, if a duty is found to exist in this case, it must be grounded on the

Province's officials acting outside the scope of their mandate.
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[206] In The Los Angeles Salad Company Inc. v. Canadian Food Inspection
Agency, 2013 BCCA 34, at para. 40, Mr. Justice K. Smith outlined three
circumstances where a relationship of proximity can exist with respect to

government actors:

[40] ... First, the relationship may be created in the statute itself, although
the Court cautioned that, since statutes are most often “aimed at public
goods”, it may be difficult to infer that the legislature intended to create
private law tort duties, especially where such duties would conflict with the
duty to the public and where the public duty is overarching. Next proximity
may “arise from a series of specific interactions between the government and
the claimant” although, even here, a finding of proximity might have to give
way for policy reasons if to recognize it would conflict with the statutory duty.
Finally, proximity may be found in a combination of statutory duties and
interactions between the parties.

[206] In that case, the Court of Appeal was asked to consider whether federal
government food inspectors owed a private law duty of care to sellers of food
products. The Court concluded that the statement of claim should be struck for not
disclosing a reasonable claim. On the issue of proximity, the Court found that while
proximity may be created by the regulator’s conduct, it does not typically arise when
the regulator is simply discharging its statutory responsibilities in the public interest:

[53] ... Inmy view, the clear purpose of the relevant legislative scheme is
to protect the health of Canadians by preventing the sale of contaminated
food in Canada. To recognize a private law duty of care to food sellers would
conflict with that purpose. It would put food inspectors in the untenable
position of having to balance the paramount interests of the public with
private interests of food sellers and would thereby have a chilling effect on
the proper performance of their duties. Thus, the statutory scheme excludes
the possibility of sufficient factual proximity to make it just and reasonable to
impose a prima facie duty of care in the circumstances of this case: see
Imperial Tobacco (S.C.C.) at para. 47.

[207] Defining the relationship in a proximity analysis may involve looking at
expectations, representations, reliances, and the property or other interests involved:
Cooper v. Hobart, 2001 SCC 79 [Cooper] at paras. 32-34. Essentially, these are
factors that allow the evaluation of the closeness of the relationship between the
plaintiff and the defendant and inform whether it is just and fair to impose a duty of

care in law.
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[208] McLachlin J., as she then was, made the following observations while
discussing proximity in Canadian National Railway Co. v. Norsk Pacific Steamship
Co., [1992] 1 S.C.R. 1021 [Norsk] at 1152-1154:

... Proximity is the controlling concept which avoids the spectre of unlimited
liability. Proximity may be established by a variety of factors, depending on
the nature of the case. To date, sufficient proximity has been found in the
case of negligent misstatements where there is an undertaking and
correlative reliance (Hedley Byrne); where there is a duty to warn (Rivtow);
and where a statute imposes a responsibility on a municipality toward the
owners and occupiers of land (Kamlfoops). But the categories are not closed.
As more cases are decided, we can expect further definition on what factors
give rise to liability for pure economic loss in particular categories of cases. In
determining whether liability should be extended to a new situation, courts will
have regard to the factors traditionally relevant to proximity such as the
relationship between the parties, physical propinquity, assumed or imposed
obligations and close causal connection. And they will insist on sufficient
special factors to avoid the imposition of indeterminate and unreasonable
liability. The result will be a principled, yet flexible, approach to tort liability for
pure economic loss. It will allow recovery where recovery is justified, while
excluding indeterminate and inappropriate liability, and it will permit the
coherent development of the law in accordance with the approach initiated in
England by Hedley Byrne and followed in Canada in Rivtow, Kamloops and
Hofstrand.

I'add the following observations on proximity. The absolute
exclusionary rule adopted in Stockton and affirmed in Murphy (subject to
Hedley Byrne) can itself be seen as an indicator of proximity. Where there is
physical injury or damage, one posits proximity on the ground that if one is
close enough to someone or something to do physical damage to it, one is
close enough to be held legally responsible for the consequences. Physical
injury has the advantage of being a clear and simple indicator of proximity.
The problem arises when it is taken as the only indicator of proximity. As the
cases amply demonstrate, the necessary proximity to found legal liability
fairly in tort may well arise in circumstances where there is no physical
damage.

Viewed in this way, proximity may be seen as paralleling the
requirement in civil law that damages be direct and certain. Proximity, like the
requirement of directness, posits a close link between the negligent act and
the resultant loss. Distant losses which arise from collateral relationships do
not qualify for recovery.

[Emphasis in original.]

[209] The plaintiffs argue that a proximate relationship exists because the property
(then the Beachcomber Campground) along with the property owners (the Maurers)
were within the defendants’ reasonable contemplation at the time of the Works.

Further, they submit that it was within the defendants’ reasonable contemplation that
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the Beachcomber Campground would be sold in the future to a business such as
Waterway. They cite several factors in support of this proposition.

[210] Put briefly, those factors relate to: the Vinco Property’s physical proximity
(including the physical presence of the Province’s representatives on the Vinco
Property), the Water Act legislative scheme that is intended to benefit persons who
may be adversely affected by such changes (which in the plaintiffs’ submission,
creates a discrete class of persons); and specific interactions between the Province,
the District, the Maurers and the McLaughlins that created or contributed to

foreseeable risks to those with interest in the property.

[211] The defendants counter these submissions. Put briefly, they say that physical
proximity does not equate to legal proximity. They say that field investigations are
routine and that it is standard practice that Province representatives are physically
present onsite. Further, they argue, there is nothing in the Water Act that suggests
an intention to create a private law remedy against the government. Indeed, the
Water Act provides an exclusive right of appeal of the regulator’s decisions to the
Environmental Appeal Board. With respect to the plaintiffs’ point about specific
interactions, the Province says that the plaintiffs must show that any interactions the
Province had with the McLaughlins, the Maurers or the District fell outside its role as

regulator in order to establish a duty of care.

[212] The defendants argue that as was the case in Cooper, proximity does not
arise in this case and that a finding of proximity would set a dangerous precedent.

[213] The plaintiffs say that this case is different than Cooper. In Cooper, there
were no “specific interactions” to ground the duty of care and therefore the only
possible source of duty arose from the statute. They point to Carhoun and Imperial
Tobacco as examples where duties of care arose from “specific interactions”
between the government and other parties. Although Carhoun dealt with “specific
interactions” between the government and the claimant, the plaintiffs point out that
the interactions need not be with the claimant directly: Hill v. Hamilton-Wentworth
Regional Police Services Board, 2007 SCC 41; Fullowka v. Pinkerton’s of Canada
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Ltd., 2010 SCC 5; Kamloops (City) v. Nielsen, [1984] 2 S.C.R. 2 [Kamloops]; Taylor
v. Canada (Attorney General), 2012 ONCA 479.

[214] The plaintiffs agree that they were unrelated third parties uninvolved with the
Works and therefore did not have “specific interactions” with the Province. They
therefore rely on the interactions between the Province, the District, the Maurers and
the McLaughlins to ground the duty of care saying that those interactions affected

them as future owners/occupiers of the then Beachcomber Campground.

[218] Our Court of Appeal very recently revisited the issue of proximity in Wu v.
Vancouver (City), 2019 BCCA 23 [Wu] which was released after the trial in this case
but before these reasons were given. The Court discussed the trend in the
jurisprudence towards an increasing emphasis on the proximity branch of the duty of

care analysis.

[216] Atissue in Wu was whether proximity existed in a case where the City failed
to make a decision on a development permit application within a reasonable time.
The consequence of not making the decision was an arguable loss of compensation
that was possible under certain bylaws at the time. The Court held that the
relationship that existed between the property owners and the City was not
sufficiently proximate. At paras. 50 and 52, the Court stated:

[50]  The most significant evolution in applying the Anns/Cooper framework
is the increasing emphasis placed on the analysis of proximity, at the
expense of reasonable foreseeability, as the critical element in recognizing a
prima facie duty of care. In Cooper, the Supreme Court of Canada made
clear that reasonable foreseeability standing alone is insufficient to ground a
prima facie duty of care. In addition to reasonable foreseeability, there must
be proximity: Cooper at para. 42. In Deloitte & Touche v. Livent Inc. (Receiver
of), 2017 SCC 63, the Supreme Court of Canada has recently traced the
refinements in the Anns/Cooper framework placing greater emphasis on a
robust analysis of proximity as the touchstone for recognizing a novel prima
facie duty of care.

[52]  The evolution in the Anns/Cooper framework is also reflected in cases
dealing with the recognition of private law duties owed by public authorities.
The historical emphasis on the distinction between operational and policy
decisions has been overshadowed by a more rigorous proximity analysis. . . .
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[217] At para. 57, the Court noted that:

[57] .. .where a conflict arises between a potential private law duty and
the public authority’s duty to the public, the private law duty would unlikely be
recognized.”

[218] Further at para. 58;

[58] ...as ageneral proposition subject only to arguably rare exceptions,
statutory duties owed by public authorities are insufficient to ground private
law duties arising out of interactions that are inherent in the exercise of the
public law duty. [emphasis added]

[219] Thus, whether proximity exists will depend on how Mr. Doyle’s actions are
characterized. That is, whether they were inherent in the exercise of his duties as an
engineer under the Water Act.

[220] The Courtin Wu, at paras. 59 and 70, looked specifically at the proximity

analysis relating to a public body when an individual public official is involved:

[59]  Typically, if a private law duty of care is recognized, it will arise from
specific interactions either between the public authority and the claimant
sufficient to create the necessary proximity or in the context of a statutory
scheme: Imperial Tobacco at paras. 45-46. An example of such an approach
is found in Fullowka v. Pinkerton's of Canada Ltd., 2010 SCC 5, where the
Court emphasized the specific features of the relationship between the
plaintiffs and the regulator in the circumstances of the case. There, a
combination of factors, including the regulatory regime and the interactions
and knowledge of regulators, were necessary to ground a finding of proximity.
Vianich v. Typhair, 2016 ONCA 517, para. 31, helpfully explains how
proximity may arise between a public authority and a member of the public
where a public authority assumes responsibility for ensuring compliance with
standards.

[70]  Importantly, this does not foreclose the possibility that a relationship of
proximity could be created in the context of a scheme, including this one, and
specific facts and circumstances arising from interactions between the
parties. There could be a case in which a public official nhegligently
misrepresented certain facts that were relied on by an applicant. This is not
such a case. Alternatively, a public official could act in such a way so as to
assume a responsibility to have regard for the private interests of an applicant
who in turn relies upon that assumption of responsibility. Again, this is not
such a case. The representations the judge referred to were, at best, general
statements about process. | see nothing in the evidence that would warrant
treating them as actionable misrepresentations, and the judge did not do so.

[Emphasis added.]



Waterway Houseboats Ltd. v. British Columbia Page 64

[221] Dealing with the facts, no one disputes that both the McLaughlin Bridge
Replacement and the Channel Restoration, as approved by the Province, are in
close physical proximity to the Vinco Property. The issue is whether there is legal

proximity.

[222] The Province argues that s. 21 of the Water Act makes it clear that legal
responsibility for the Works rests with the McLaughlins and the District. It says that
this legal responsibility is not dependent on any measure of physical proximity, just a
nexus between the Works and damage to an “owner” as defined by the Water Act.
The Province argues that it would neither be fair nor reasonable to burden the
Province with the responsibility of regulating some parties’ acts while simultaneously
protecting other parties’ private, economic interests.

[223] The Province cites Imperial Metals Corporation v. Knight Piésold Ltd., 2018
BCSC 1191 [Imperial Metals] for the proposition that the plaintiffs must prove that
the interactions between the Province and its co-defendants fell outside the

Province’s role as regulator:

[108] As a general rule, provided a regulator deals with a regulated party for
the purpose of administering and enforcing the statutory scheme, interactions
with the regulated party will not give rise to a relationship of proximity: Elder
Advocates at para. 72; Gill at paras. 32-33; Los Angeles Salad at paras. 52-
53.

(109] However, during oral argument, the Province accepted that there are
exceptions to this general rule. The Province framed the exceptions as
follows:

1)_Where the reguiator steps outside the role of regulator, and
assumes the role of designer, developer or advisor to the regulated
party: Imperial Tobacco at paras. 53-54: Waterway Houseboats at
paras. 17-18, 55.

2) Where the regulator acquires knowledge of serious and specific
risks to the person or property of a clearly defined group of the class
that the statutory scheme was intended to protect: Fullowka at
paras. 54-55; Taylor v. Canada (Attorney General). 2012 ONCA 479
at paras. 109-111.

3) Where the regulator makes a specific misrepresentation to the
regulated party — apart from a requlatory statement — that invites
reliance, and the requlated party relies on the misrepresentation for
the purpose for which it was made: Imperial Tobacco at paras. 59-60;
Deloifte& Touche at paras. 30-31, 34-35,
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4) Where interactions between the regulator and the regulated party
give rise to a clear set of expectations that the regulator will consider
the interests of the regulated party, and the statute does not expressly
or implicitly exclude consideration of those interests: Carhoun at
paras. 97-104; Wu at paras. 164-165. ...

(Collectively, the “Accepted Exceptions”.)

[110] I'am in agreement with the Accepted Exceptions, although I do not
suggest that these are necessarily the only situations in which proximity may
be found against a regulator. . . .

[Emphasis added.]

[224] Category #1 in Imperial Metals (as underlined above) is applicable here. As |
will expand on later in these reasons, | find that Mr. Doyle stepped “outside the role
of the regulator” and assumed the role of designer to a regulated party, that being
the District and the McLaughlins.

[225] Category #2 is also applicable. | find that Mr. Doyle acquired knowledge of
serious and specific risks to the property of a clearly defined group that the Water
Act was meant to protect (that being the owners and future owners of property in
and around works authorized by the Water Act).

[226] Category #3 is also applicable. | find, for reasons | will explain, that Mr. Doyle
made specific representations to the McLaughlins about the bridge height that
invited reliance and that the McLaughlins did, indeed. rely upon the representations
(see Imperial Tobacco at paras. 59-60; Deloitte at paras. 30-31, 34-35).

[227] In order for proximity to exist, a “close causal connection” between the
alleged misconduct (Mr. Doyle’s discussions and concessions leading to the
Approvals) and the complained of harm (2012 Flood) may be a relevant
consideration: Odhavji Estate v. Woodhouse, 2003 SCC 69 at para. 35. | find that a

close causal connection exists in this case.

[228] By this finding, | do not suggest that the Province’s Water Act engineers are
required to design works they approve as a matter of course or that the Province will
always owe a private law duty of care when it learns of proposed works that may

pose a danger to a particular person or property.
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[229] Rather, my finding focuses on what the Province should rof do. As | will
discuss in more detail under the standard of care, it firstly should not increase the
risk to the plaintiffs through careless communications with those it regulates.
Secondly, it should not violate its own statutory scheme in order to approve works on

conditions it knows are inadequate.

[230] While it is true that the plaintiffs themselves were not, and could not have
been, on the defendants’ radar at the time the Works were undertaken (and
therefore did not have any more direct a relationship with the defendants than other
members of the public), they were future purchasers of the Beachcomber
Campground. Therefore, their status as “future neighbours” makes the relationship

between the plaintiffs and defendants proximate.

[231] Taking a holistic approach to determining the proximity issue (as opposed to
an “all-or-nothing” checkbox approach), | conclude that there was a relationship of
sufficient proximity between the plaintiffs and the defendants that grounds a prima

facie duty of care.

iv. Residual Policy Considerations

[232] Despite the existence of a proximate relationship, defendants are permitted to
establish that policy considerations ought to negate a prima facie duty of care:
Childs at para. 13.

[233] Assessing the residual policy stage involves a consideration of factors
external to the relationship between the parties, including: (1) whether the law
already provides a remedy; (2) whether recognition of the duty of care creates “the
spectre of unlimited liability to an unlimited class”; and (3) whether there are “other
reasons of broad policy that suggest that the duty of care should not be recognized”.
It asks whether it would be better, for reasons relating to legal or doctrinal order or
arising from other societal concerns, not to recognize a duty of care in a given case:

Deloitte at para 40.
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[234] As further explained by the Supreme Court of Canada in Cooper at paras. 37-
39:

[37]  This brings us to the second stage of the Anns test. As the majority of
this Court held in Norsk, at p. 1155, residual policy considerations fall to be
considered here. These are not concerned with the relationship between the
parties, but with the effect of recognizing a duty of care on other legal
obligations, the legal system and society more generally. Does the law
already provide a remedy? Would recognition of the duty of care create the
spectre of unlimited liability to an unlimited class? Are there other reasons of
broad policy that suggest that the duty of care should not be

recognized? Following this approach, this Court declined to find liability in
Hercules Managements, supra, on the ground that to recognize a duty of care
would raise the spectre of liability to an indeterminate class of people.

[38] Itis at this second stage of the analysis that the distinction between
government policy and execution of policy falls to be considered. It is
established that government actors are not liable in negligence for policy
decisions, but only operational decisions. The basis of this immunity is that
policy is the prerogative of the elected Legislature. It is inappropriate for
courts to impaose liability for the consequences of a particular policy decision.
On the other hand, a government actor may be liable in negligence for the
manner in which it executes or carries out the policy. In our view, the
exclusion of liability for policy decisions is properly regarded as an application
of the second stage of the Anns test. The exclusion does not relate to the
relationship between the parties. Apart from the legal characterization of the
government duty as a matter of policy, plaintiffs can and do recover. The
exclusion of liability is better viewed as an immunity imposed because of

considerations outside the relationship for policy reasons — more precisely,
because it is inappropriate for courts to second-guess elected legislators on
policy matters. Similar considerations may arise where the decision in
question is quasi-judicial (see Edwards v. Law Society of Upper Canada,
[2001] 3 S.C.R. 562, 2001 SCC 80).

[38] The second step of Anns generally arises only in cases where the
duty of care asserted does not fall within a recognized category of recovery.
Where it does, we may be satisfied that there are no overriding policy
considerations that would negative the duty of care. In this sense, we agree
with the Privy Council in Yuen Kun Yeu that the second stage of Anns will
seldom arise and that questions of liability will be determined primarily by
reference to established and analogous categories of recovery. However,
where a duty of care in a novel situation is alleged, as here, we believe it
necessary to consider both steps of the Anns test as discussed above. This
ensures that before a duty of care is imposed in a new situation, not only are
foreseeability and relational proximity present, but there are no broader
considerations that would make imposition of a duty of care unwise.

[235] Canadian courts have accepted the contrast first described in Anns v, Merton
London Borough Council, [1978] A.C. 728 (H.L.) [Anns] between public officials'
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“policy” decisions, which cannot give rise to tort liability, and their “operational” acts
or omissions, which can. In Holland v. Saskatchewan, 2008 SCC 42 at para. 14, the

Supreme Court of Canada summarized the distinction as follows:

[14]  Policy decisions about what acts to perform under a statute do not
give rise to liability in negligence. On the other hand, once a decision to act
has been made, the government may be liable in negligence for the manner
in which it impfements that decision...

[Emphasis in original.]

[236] In Just v. British Columbia, [1989] 2 S.C.R. 1228, the Supreme Court of
Canada considered public authority liability and recognized the distinction between
“policy” and “operational” decisions, finding that a true policy decision undertaken by
a government agency constitutes a valid basis to negate a duty of care. In that case,
the majority of the Court commented on what constitutes such a policy decision,
stating at 1245:

[1]t should be borne in mind that such decisions are generally made by
persons of a high level of authority in the agency, but may also properly be
made by persons of a lower level of authority. The characterization of such a
decision rests on the nature of the decision and not on the identity of the
actors. As a general rule, decisions concerning budgetary allotments for
departments or government agencies will be classified as policy decisions.

[237] The Province contends that the prospect of indeterminate liability is a policy
factor that negates a duty of care in this case. Such concerns, it says, relate to the
virtually unlimited exposure of government to private claims, which may tax public
resources and chill government efforts to enforce legitimate public interests. It points
to Ernst v. Alberta (Energy Resources Conservation Board), 2014 ABCA 285, aff'd
2017 SCC 1 [Ernst] and Alberta v. Elder Advocates of Alberta Society, 2011 SCC 24
[Elder] in support.

[238] In Ernst, the Alberta Court of Appeal observed at para. 18:

[18]  Forcing the Board to consider the extent to which it must balance the
interests of specific individuals while attempting to regulate in the overall
public interest would be unworkable in fact and bad policy in law.
Recognizing any such private duty would distract the Board from its general
duty to protect the public, as well as its duty to deal fairly with participants in
the regulated industry. Any such individualized duty of care would plainly
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involve indeterminate liability, and would undermine the Board's ability to
effectively address the general public obligations placed on it under its
controlling legislative scheme.

[239] In Elder, the Supreme Court of Canada stated at para. 74:

[74] ... Where the defendant is a public body, inferring a private duty of
care from statutory duties may be difficult, and must respect the particular
constitutional role of those institutions; Welbridge Holdings Ltd, v. Greater
Winnipeg, [1971] S.C.R. 957, per Laskin J., as he then was, for the Court,
Related to this concern is the fear of virtually unlimited exposure of the
government to private claims, which may tax public resources and chill
government intervention. It is arguable that to impose a duty of care on the
plaintiff class on the facts pleaded would open the door to a claim in
negligence by any patient in the healthcare system with an entitlement to
receive funding for health services, whether primary or extended. This raises
the spectre of unlimited liability to an unlimited class, decried by Cardozo C.J.
in Ultramares Corp. v. Touche, 174 N.E. 441 (N.Y. 1931), at p. 444: see
Design Services Ltd. v. Canada, 2008 SCC 22, [2008] 1 S.C.R. 737, at
paras. 59-66.

[240] The Province argues that Mr. Doyle's decision to issue the Approvals involved
both policy-making and quasi-judicial elements and were not merely operational
decisions. The Province argues that engineers under the Water Act must act
judicially in considering approval applications and determine the policies that should
apply in each instance. This process, the Province says, is inconsistent with a duty
of care to persons potentially harmed by approval holders’ authorized works. For
example, in Cooper at para. 52, the Court stated:

[52]  Inour view, even if a prima facie duty of care had been established
under the first branch of the Anns test, it would have been negated at the
second stage for overriding policy reasons. The decision of whether to
suspend a broker involves both policy and quasi-judicial elements. The
decision requires the Registrar to balance the public and private interests.
The Registrar is not simply carrying out a pre-determined government policy,
but deciding, as an agent of the executive branch of government, what that
policy should be. Moreover, the decision is quasi-judicial. The Registrar must
act fairly or judicially in removing a broker's licence. These requirements are
inconsistent with a duty of care to investors. Such a duty would undermine
these obligations, imposed by the Legislature on the Registrar. Thus even if a
prima facie duty of care could be posited, it would be negated by other
overriding policy considerations.

[241] The Province argues that faced with several competing interests (the District

needing Mervyn Road repaired, the McLaughlins’ desire to have their access
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restored, PEP financial constraints and other limited resources), Mr. Doyle was
entitled to issue the Approvals despite considering them ill-advised. The Province
says that in doing so, he was making a policy-based and quasi-judicial decision that
should not be the subject of judicial interference.

[242] | cannot agree. In my view, Mr. Doyle’s mandate to issue the Approvals is
contained entirely within s. 9 of the Water Act. He was engaged in operational and
engineering decisions throughout. It cannot be said that his decision-making was
quasi-judicial. As will be discussed later in these reasons, it cannot be policy for
Mr. Doyle to issue approvals contrary to his engineering judgment, hold his nose,
shrug his shoulders and “clear the books”. The mere presence of multiple
stakeholders does not convert an operational decision into a policy decision.

[243] Here, Mr. Doyle attempted to do what the Supreme Court of Canada has
warned against in Ernst and Eider. His duty as a regulator was to protect the public
by using his engineering judgment. While | agree that some balancing of interests
was required, in the particular circumstances of this case and especially given his
knowledge of the history of Sicamous Creek, Mr. Doyle was required to give weight
to the hydrological issues and put his engineering expertise and judgment ahead of

those other interests in exercising his discretion under s. 9.

[244] Other matters (such as the McLaughlins’ “entitlement” to access or the limits
of PEP funding) were the purview of others.

[245] The plaintiffs do not ask this Court to find that the Province owes a duty to
exercise reasonable care in establishing conditions of approvals to all persons who
may be affected by works subject to an approval. Insofar as approvals are
concerned, the duty is only to not issue approvals on conditions that the decision-
maker believes are inadvisable. Put another way, the duty is to not grant approvals

in excess of statutory jurisdiction.

[246] | agree with this characterization.
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[247] | am not persuaded that indeterminate liability is a basis for negating the
prima facie duty of care in this case. The evidence is that Water Act engineers do
not usually get involved at the level that Mr. Doyle became involved in this case. | do
not accept that the class of individuals who would be owed a duty is as large as the
Province suggests. In this case, it is restricted to persons who would be directly
affected by the Approvals.

[248] In sum, there are no residual policy considerations that would negate the
prima facie duty of care that | have found was owed to the plaintiffs by the Province.

[249] | conclude that the Province owed a duty of care to the plaintiffs as future
owners and occupiers of the Vinco Property. There was a relationship of proximity
that existed between them such that it was reasonably foreseeable that careless

acts or omissions could result in injury.

b. Standard of Care

[250] To ground a claim in negligence against the Province, the plaintiffs must also
establish that that Mr. Doyle’s conduct fell below the standard of care that would be
expected of an “ordinary, reasonable and prudent person in the same
circumstances”: Ryan v. Victoria (City), [1999] 1 8.C.R. 201 [Ryan] at para. 28.

[251] The questions then are;

What was the standard of care that would be expected of a person in

Mr. Doyle’s circumstances at the time?
ii.  Did Mr. Doyle breach that standard of care?

i. What Was the Standard of Care Expected?

[252] As has been indicated, Mr. Doyle was a regulator/engineer appointed under
s. 9 of the Water Act. His job was to apply specialized knowledge and experience to
the assessment of the works and to issue approvals on conditions he considered

advisable.
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[253] The plaintiffs did not adduce any expert evidence on the standard of care
required of such regulators/engineers under s. 9 of the Water Act. They only
adduced expert evidence on the standard of care of consulting engineers. The
Province asserts that the standard of care of consulting engineers is different than
that of regulatory engineers (such as those appointed under the Water Act) and that

the plaintiffs’ failure to call evidence on the point is fatal to their case.

[254] In the absence of such evidence, however, the Court may look to external
factors, including legislative standards, policies and guidelines to determine the

standard of care.

[255] In this case, | have the Water Act, the regulations made pursuant to it and
Mr. Doyle’s own evidence and documented concerns. In my view, that guidance,
together with common sense and the practice described by Mr. Doyle, is sufficient to

determine the required standard of care.

[256] Section 9 of the Water Act sets the standard. It says in part:

9(1) The .. .engineer may grant an approval in writing authorizing on the
conditions he or she considers advisable. ..

[257] The key words are “he or she considers advisable”. Professional engineers
are appointed under the Water Act for a reason. The reason being to ensure that
engineering standards and considerations are enlisted in the highly technical and
specialized nature of river hydrology as part and parcel of the considerations that go

into s. 9 approvals.

[258] Mr. Doyle was a professional engineer hired by the Province to make s. 9
approval decisions based on his education, training and experience and on
conditions he considered advisable from an engineering standpoint. His professional
view of what was “advisable” should not have been compromised by political,

economic or other factors. Those considerations were for others.
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ii. Did Mr. Doyle Breach the Standard of Care?

[259] Mr. Doyle has been working as a professional engineer with the Ministry in
the Water Branch for his entire career. He understood river hydrology and knew the
risk that Sicamous Creek posed. He described it as a “hanging fire”, meaning that it

was a disaster waiting to happen.

[260] | found Mr. Doyle to be frank and straightforward as a witness. He was
knowledgeable, professional and refreshingly candid. As well as being a very
experienced engineer with the Water Branch, he prided himself as a practical man

too. That, unfortunately, was his undoing.

[261] When Mr. McLaughlin first requested permission to replace his bridge, the
Province initially felt it would be acceptable to follow its general rule of thumb and
allow him to proceed without a Water Act approval provided it was put back “at least
1 metre higher” and met the requirements of Part 7 of the Water Regulation.

[262] In fact, the Water Regulation was quite onerous and would have required
Mr. McLaughlin at s. 44(1)(b)(iii) to ensure that:

iii) the hydraulic capacity of the bridge is equivalent to the hydraulic
capacity of the stream channel, or is capable of passing the 1 in 200 year
maximum daily flow, and the height of the underside of the bridge is also
adequate to provide free passage of flood debris. ..

[263] | conclude that the Water Regulation could not have been complied with
without the design advice of a professional engineer qualified in river hydrology.

[264] Mr. Doyle would have known of the Water Regulation when he took control of
the process in September 1997. The effect of his involvement was to supersede

s. 44(1)(b)(iii) of the Water Regulation with his engineering judgment. He knew that
his engineering expertise was required because of what he observed during site
visits and fly overs in July 1997. He knew the McLaughlin Bridge’s location was

tenuous.
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[265] He knew that the Approvals in this case were not run-of-the mill Water Act
approvals. Rather, these Approvals demanded his careful attention. Despite the
District and the McLaughlins wanting the Works to move along quickly, there are
some projects that simply cannot be rushed. This project was one of them. In issuing
the Approvals, he knew his role was to minimize the foreseeable risks
notwithstanding the financial, physical and other constraints existing at the time.

[266] The science of river hydrology is not something lay people like

Mr. McLaughlin, Ms. Williams, Ms. Maurer and Mr. MacDonald should be expected
to understand. That is why Mr. Doyle’s involvement was so important. As between
the Province, the District and the McLaughlins, he was the only person who
understood the issues and knew what was required from an engineering standpoint.

[267] The District was also adamant that it wanted nothing to do with the
McLaughlin Bridge Replacement. It would have been obvious to Mr. Doyle that
neither the District nor the McLaughlins understood the significant issues involved.

[268] Nevertheless, he allowed himself to accept pushback from the District whose
primary concern was completing the Mervyn Road repairs and Channel Restoration
within PEP funding limits and DFO timing constraints. The District’s pushback was

driven to a large degree by Ms. Maurer's concerns about the height of Mervyn Road.

[269] | do not accept the defendants’ submission that the decision to reduce the
height of the MclLaughlin Bridge (from the initial “at least 1 metre higher” to “1 metre
higher”, then to “at least 0.6 metres higher”, and finally to “0.6 metres higher”)
occurred as a resulting of Mr. Doyle’s balancing act that took into account the
interests of Ms. Maurer, the Province and the District.

[270] lItis clear that as regulator and engineer, Mr. Doyle did not want the
McLaughlin Bridge replaced unless it was designed by a qualified professional
engineer. This is why he was hesitant to remove Condition ‘H’ (requiring that the
District sign off on the design). He only removed Condition ‘H’ due to pressure from
the District and an instruction from Mr. Zackodnik to “clear the books”.
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[271] The Province says Mr. Doyle, as a regulator, was entitled to remove
Condition ‘H’ at his discretion and his decision cannot be attacked. The Province
further suggests that Mr. Doyle knew he lacked legal authority to impose Condition
"H' and that he had no authority to force the District to design or sign off on the
bridge. According to the Province, this is another reason why Mr. Doyle removed
Condition 'H’.

[272] | conclude that this suggestion is a defence after-thought. Firstly, there is no
mention of this issue in any contemporaneous document. Secondly, Condition ‘H’
was only binding on Mr. McLaughlin to obtain the District's approval. If the District's
approval was not forthcoming, the bridge could not be replaced.

[273] Mr. Doyle’s trial evidence on this point is telling. Referencing a memorandum

he wrote to the file:
Q. And you agree with me that you were “pretty pissed off” when you wrote
this?
A. Yes.
Q. You were mad?
A. Aren't they equivalent?
Q. To some people, yes. But you were mad?
A. Yes.

Q. And the reason you were pissed off and mad when you wrote this was you
did not want to approve the McLaughlin bridge without condition H?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. In fact you were writing this memorandum because, in your words,
you were "pretty disgusted with the way things were coming out the end of
the pipe was that the McLaughlin bridge approval was not going to have
condition H in it?

A. Yes.

Q. And the way things were going out at the end of the pipe seemed likely to
you that the McLaughlin bridge would be built at 0.6 metres higher without a
professional review by a qualified engineer?

A. Yes.
Q. And that was precisely the result you were desperate to avoid?
A Yes.
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[274] Mr. Doyle's examination for discovery testimony further confirms the point:

Q. Item H, “Approval of the bridge design is required from the District of
Sicamous”, you inserted that as a condition initially?
A. That was an important condition, | felt, initially, yes.

Q. And it was important because you wanted to ensure the bridge was
professionally designed?

A. It — it was sort of a backup condition which reinforced C. If something went
haywire with either one of them, hopefully one of them would — would make
sure that the bridge was designed okay. You know, C, try — striving for getting
somebody who knew what they were doing to design the bridge and take
responsibility as a professional engineer meant H was — | just wanted some
assurance from some other party other than us — like, other than the Ministry
of Environment — that this thing had been approved for the very reason why
we're sitting about here.”

Q. So you were concerned that nobody was going to take responsibility for
this bridge and you wanted to make sure somebody took responsibility for it?

A. Absolutely, because it — it was a bridge that was in a very difficult spot and

it — it was clear to me that somebody's got to step up to the plate, as they

say.
[275] lItis clear that he never wanted the 0.6 metre height to be used as the design
height, but nonetheless expected that the bridge was going back in at exactly 0.6
metres and that no qualified professional engineer would be engaged. In that sense,
he simply paid lip service to Condition ‘C’ (the condition that the McLaughlin Bridge
be designed by a qualified professional engineer and at least 0.6 metres higher than

the lowest point of the previous bridge).

[276] The fact that the Province and District were seemingly at an impasse did not
permit Mr. Doyle to fly in the face of obvious hazards just to smooth over a problem
and “clear the books”. That, in my view, misses the point of his s. 9 Water Act duties

and by doing so, he acted outside the scope of those duties.

[277] Mr. Doyle testified that he did not like the conflict and wanted to “satisfy
everyone’s concerns”. But this was not his job. He was not appointed as a mediator.

[278] In my view, Mr. Doyle should have stood by his engineering judgment and
made it abundantly clear that Condition ‘C’ was still in play and the bridge required
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the design of a qualified professional engineer notwithstanding the “at least 0.6
metres” minimum. At that point, it may well have meant a delay in the bridge
reinstallation and may well have required Mr. McLaughlin to seek other remedies,
including perhaps an appeal to the Environmental Appeal Board.

[279] Given Mr. Doyle’s knowledge that Mr. McLaughlin was essentially on standby
waiting for negotiations between the Province and the District to conclude, Mr. Doyle
had a duty to clearly communicate his concerns to Mr. McLaughlin in a manner that
Mr. McLaughlin could understand. Specifically, he was required to ensure that

Mr. McLaughlin knew that he could not rely on the minimum 0.6 metre increase

unless it was approved by a qualified professional engineer.

[280] Instead, through his words and actions, he allowed Mr. MclLaughlin to assume
that the 0.6 metre height increase was some sort of design height compromise
between the District and Province and that the new bridge could be installed exactly

0.6 metres higher.

[281] The Province argues that Mr. Doyle’s involvement must be put into context.

That context being that Mr. Doyle was engaged in an emergency response. In that
context, the Province argues, Mr. Doyle was acting as a regulator and assisting the
District and Mr. McLaughlin solve the many problems that the 1997 Flood created.

The Province maintains that Mr. Doyle acted reasonably in light of the situation.

[282] In hindsight, Mr. Doyle wished he had been clearer with his intention that
Condition ‘C’ meant that the engineering of the McLaughlin Bridge required an
engineer versed in river hydraulics:

Q. So you agree with me that the approval does not on its face require that

the qualified professional engineer be versed in river engineering or river
hydraulics?

MR. DOYLE: A. No, but | certainly wish that it would have said that.
Q. So you agree that it doesn't say it on its face.
A. Yeah. Twenty years later, | would strongly agree with that.
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[283] As far as Mr. McLaughlin was concerned, despite the wording of the
McLaughlin Bridge Approval, the height of the bridge had been dictated to him as
exactly 0.6 metres higher than the previous bridge:

Q. And so it’s fair to say that when you saw this 0.6 metre higher number in
the approval, that you understood the reason it had changed from 1 metre
higher down to 0.6 metre higher was that the District had a desire to do
something about the height of your bridge because it was going to cause
problems at 1 metre higher?

MR. MCLAUGHLIN: A. That's right.

THE COURT: So the approval, Mr. McLaughlin, said “at least 0.6
metres,”...What did you think that meant...?

A. That was the minimum | could go, this 0.6.
THE COURT: Did you ever ask for clarification of anyone?

A. No. | was — my first drawings | was prepared to go the 1 metre, and that
would have satisfied the Ministry at that time but it didn’t satisfy the
District. So the District went back and gotthat ...reduced, and the Ministry
agreed to it. So | just said, “Hey, they're both happy. Best of both worlds.”

THE COURT: Am | hearing you say that the Ministry said to you with the
approval — and you understood the Ministry had authority over the creek — “at
least 0.6 metres” —

A. Right.

THE COURT: — but from discussions you had, understandings you had from
the District, they wanted it as low as they could get away with?

A. That was when the statement was 1 metre... They wanted to reduce it
because of access to both sides of the road....

THE COURT: Understood. But the approval said “at least 0.6 metres”? ...So
did you interpret that to mean 0.6 metres?

A. Yes.
THE COURT: Where did you get that from?

A. Like | said, they both agreed to it. So if | would have gone higher and it
would have cost the District more money, I'm sure | would have got some
feedback and some pressure to reduce that to the 0.6.

THE COURT: That was your assumption?
A. That was my assumption, yes, pardon me,

[284] Despite Mr. Doyle's stated concern that the bridge height be engineered, he
conceded that he was aware that the working design was only 0.6 metres higher. In

cross-examination, he gave this testimony:



Waterway Houseboats Ltd. v. British Columbia Page 79

Q. Mr. Doyle, when we were going over the February 26™, 1998 site meeting
relating to Mervyn Road, the channel restoration works and the McLaughlin
bridge, you agreed with me that the discussion at that meeting in relation to
the McLaughlin bridge was that it would be reinstalled 0.6 meters higher.

MR. DOYLE: A. Yes.

Q. And it is fair to say that everyone at that meeting regarded the 0.6 metre
higher elevation as the working design for the McLaughlin bridge
reinstallation?

A. Yes.

Q. And that 0.6 metre working design had come out of your discussions with
Ms. Smith (Williams)?

A. Yes.

Q. And so by the time of that February 26, 1998 site visit, the 0.6 metre
height increase that you had accepted was the working design for the height
of the McLaughlin bridge reinstallation?

A Yes.

[285] Despite this, Mr. Doyle somehow felt that it was still up to Mr. McLaughlin to
comply with Condition ‘C’ and have a qualified professional engineer check the

design.

[286] If, as the Province seems to suggest, Mr. Doyle was permitted to issue
approvals when his engineering judgement told him that it was nof advisable to do
s0, how could he be said to be acting within the scope of his mandate? In my view,

he could not be.

[287] | conclude that Mr. Doyle fell below the standard of care of engineers
appointed under the Water Act. He allowed other considerations to influence his
duties. To the extent that he made the Approvals conditional, he did not take

adequate steps, knowing what he knew, to make sure they were understood.

[288] Mr. Doyle was clearly frustrated with the District's position and with what was
happening. By trying to be practical, he forgot his role as a Water Act engineer and
allowed his frustration to get the better of him. He did not exercise the judgment that
an “ordinary, reasonable and prudent” engineer appointed under the Water Act

would have in the same circumstances.
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c. Is the Province Liable to the Plaintiffs in Negligence?

[289] In Carhoun, our Court of Appeal commented on the liability of public
regulators at para. 43:

[43] | begin by noting that public regulators are not exempt from civil
liability. The Supreme Court of Canada has affirmed the importance of this
liability, saying: “It is important for public authorities to be liable in general for
their negligent conduct in light of the pervasive role that they play in all
aspects of society. Exempting all government actions from liability would
result in intolerable outcomes™ R. v. Imperial Tobacco, 2011 SCC 42 at
para. 76.

[290] The Province says that in granting the Approvals, Mr. Doyle was simply
following operational orders: firstly, to restore the channel to its pre-1997 Flood
condition, and secondly, to approve the re-installation of the McLaughlin Bridge.

[291] A compromise to balance competing interests and funding issues is generally
acceptable, but not, in my view, at the expense of professional engineering
judgment. In effect, the Province says that, given the simultaneous interaction
between the Water Act and the Emergency Program Act, it was impossible for

Mr. Doyle to comply with his duty under s. 9 of the Water Act.

[292] | disagree.

[293] Had a qualified professional engineer been engaged by the McLaughlins, |
conclude that the bridge would not have been replaced only 0.6 metres higher than it
was previously. The only expert evidence on the point was from Mr. LaCas who
opined that, given the information available at the time, it should have been 2.4
metres higher. | accept his evidence on this point. Mervyn Road would have been
required to accommodate the additional height. There is no evidence before me on
what would have been required to construct Mervyn Road to accommodate a higher
bridge height or what the cost would have been but | am satisfied that it would not
have been prohibitive. It would simply have involved a ramp or approach of some
kind.
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[294] Mr. Doyle’s site inspection on April 1, 1998, disclosed that the Channel
Restoration did not meet the conditions of the Channel Restoration Approval. He
foresaw that if the McLaughlin Bridge Replacement went ahead, the completed
package of bridge and channel were going to be more hazardous under high flow
conditions than they were before the 1997 Flood.

[295] Despite this, he took no steps to remedy the problem. He simply noted the
concerns in a memo. At that point, the McLaughiin Bridge Replacement had not
begun. It was at this point even more critical that the McLaughlins knew the

importance of having the bridge height engineered.

[296] | liken this case to building inspection cases such as Kamloops, Rothfield v.
Manolakos, [1989] 2 S.C.R. 1259, and Ingles v. Tutkaluk Construction Ltd., [2000] 1
S.C.R. 298, where subsequent homeowners have been successful at trial after
suffering loss or damage due to the failure of building inspectors to inspect or ensure
compliance with building codes (as described in Imperial Metals, paras. 51-64).

[297] Similarly in building inspection cases, a building inspector issue blueprints (or,
in this case: “Approvals”) in accordance with building codes (in this case: on certain
conditions deemed advisable). Continuing with the analogy, imagine a case where
the house (in this case: bridge) is built but the building inspector (in this case: Water
Act regulator engineer) is aware that it is not up to code. Despite this, he or she does

nothing about it other than note his or her concerns in a file memo.

[298] Likewise in this case, future affected owners (Vinco and Waterway) are
entitled to expect that works are completed “up to code”, or in other words, in

accordance with approvals.

[299] As aresult of Mr. Doyle’s negligence, the Province is liable to the plaintiffs.
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d. Privative Clauses in the Water Act

[300] The Province says that even if this Court finds that Mr. Doyle failed to meet
the standard of care, the Province is entitled to the protection of the privative clauses
in ss. 48 and 49 of the Water Act, the relevant sections of which then read:

48. An action may not be brought against ... a[n] engineer . . . for anything
done or left undone by that person in good faith in the performance or
intended performance of an authority conferred or duty imposed under this
Act. . ..

49. Except as otherwise provided in this Act, a[n] ...investigation...or order of
the . . . engineer must not be questioned, reviewed or restrained by
injunction, a proceeding in the nature of prohibition or other process or
proceeding in any court. . . .

[301] The Province argues that no action can lie against Mr. Doyle due to the fact
that he was acting in good faith when the Approvals were issued. Further, the
Province says that the discussions Mr. Doyle had with the District, the McLaughlins
and other stakeholders were an “investigation” within the meaning of s. 49.

[302] The Province’s arguments can be disposed of quickly.

[303] First, the plaintiffs have not brought an action against Mr. Doyle. The action is
against the Province. In my view, while s. 48 will protect Mr. Doyle provided that he
acted in good faith, it does not protect the Province from Mr. Doyle’s negligence.
Second, s. 49 uses language of judicial review. In the context of this case, it means
that judicial review proceedings could not have been brought to question, restrain,
stop or interfere with Mr. Doyle’s investigation into matters concerning the 1997
Flood. Section 49 does not protect the Province for Mr. Doyle’s negligent acts.

Xll. THE WATER ACT LIABILITY

a. Purpose and Interpretation of the Water Act

[304] The purpose of the Water Act is management of public water in the public
interest: Western Canada Wilderness Committee v. British Columbia (Oil and Gas
Commission), 2014 BCSC 1919.
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[305] Section 2 of the Water Act vests the right to the use of and flow of all water in
streams in British Columbia and requires any modifications to the nature or flow of a
stream or any activity or construction that may have an impact on a stream to be
made only with the written approval of an engineer under the Water Act on

conditions he or she considers advisable, or in accordance with the regulations.

[306] The Water Actis strict. The Province has complete control over the use of
water and over any changes to streams, stream beds or bridges spanning streams.

That authority is granted to the Province for good reason.

[307] The regulations made pursuant to the Water Act are important because when
the Province first advised Mr. McLaughlin via Mr. Costerton's August 7, 1997 letter
that he could replace his bridge without a Water Act approval, he was still required to
comply with the regulations. The relevant section of the Water Regulation as it was
in the 1997/1998 timeframe is s, 44(1)(b)(iii):

(1) For the purposes of section 9 of the Water Act, the following changes in
and about a stream may be made without obtaining an approval or licence for
that change, provided that the change is made in accordance with this
regulation ...

(b) the construction, maintenance or removal of a clear span bridge,
provided that

(iii) the hydraulic capacity of the bridge is equivalent to the
hydraulic capacity of the stream channel, or is capable of passing
the 1 in 200 year maximum daily flow, and the height of the
underside of the bridge is also adequate to provide free passage
of flood debris and ice flows,

[308] Under the Water Regulation, the McLaughlin Bridge could only have been
replaced if it was capable of passing a 1 in 200 year flood and it was high enough to
provide free passage of a debris flood. In order to rebuild without an approval,
therefore, Mr. McLaughlin would have needed to retain a qualified professional
engineer qualified in water engineering and hydraulics to ensure s. 44(1)(b)(iii) of the

Water Regulation was satisfied.

[309] Respecting the consequences of an approval holder working in or about a

stream, there was much debate between the parties as to whether the provisions of
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s. 21(1) of the Act are conjunctive (the plaintiffs’ position) or disjunctive (the
defendants’ position). The provision is again reproduced below:
21(1) A licensee, holder of an approval or person who makes a change in
and about a stream in accordance with the regulations must

(a) exercise reasonable care to avoid damaging land, works, trees or
other property, and

(b) make full compensation to the owners for damage or loss resulting
from construction, maintenance, use, operation or failure of the works

[310] | agree with the plaintiffs that s. 21(1) is conjunctive. This means that despite
holders of an approval using reasonable care in performing works in a stream as
authorized by the approval, they are nevertheless liable for damage caused by the

“construction, maintenance, use, operation or failure of the works”.

[311] Previous versions of British Columbia’s Water Act provide insight into
legislative intent behind the section. Of relevance, the 1939 Water Act (indexed at
1939 S.B.C. 323) [1939 Act] reads as follows:

Licensee to make compensation for damage

16. (1) Every licensee shall exercise reasonable care to avoid damaging any
land, works, trees, or other property, and shall make full compensation to the
owners for any damage or loss resulting from the construction, maintenance,
use, or operation of the licensee's works.

(2.) Subject to subsection (1), every holder of a licence for power purpose or
waterworks purpose shall have authority to fell and remove any tree and to
remove any rock or other thing that endangers his works. R.S. 1936, ¢. 305,
ss. 85, 134 (i) (redrawn).

[Emphasis added.]

[312] Subsection 16(1) of the 1939 Act encompasses both ss. 21(1)(a) and (b) of
the Water Act in place at the time of these events. In my view, the intention in the
7939 Act was that a licensee had to exercise reasonable care and make full
compensation. In further support of a conjunctive interpretation, the heading itself
reads: “Licensee to make compensation for damage”. Subsection 16(2) also makes
more sense in that context: a licensee can remove rocks and trees but subject to

s. 16(1), he or she must compensate for such removal if it damages land.
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[313] The 7939 Act provision was redrawn from an earlier version of that provision
in the 1914 Water Act (indexed at 1914 S.B.C. 81) [1914 Acf] which reads as

follows:

Licensee to make compensation for damage

88. Every licensee, when constructing, maintaining, or operating his works, or
when entering upon any lands in connection with the rights granted him under
this Act, shall do as little damage as possible, and shall make full
compensation to all owners thereof for any loss, damage, or injury done when
exercising the powers aforesaid, which compensation shall, failing
agreement, be determined by arbitration pursuant to the "Arbitration Act.”
1914, c. 81, s. 29.

[314] This provides further support that the provision is conjunctive. It also provides
some insight on the legislature’s intent in adding the “reasonable care” phraseology.
The 19714 Act provision does not suggest that a licensee is absolved from liability if

he or she acts reasonably.

[315] Section 21(a) is action focused. It is not restricted to “works”. Section 21(b) is

restricted to works.

[316] Therefore, the McLaughlins, as holders of the McLaughlin Bridge Approval,
and the District, as holder of the Channel Restoration Approval, were required to
comply with both s. 9(2) and ss. 21(1)(a) and 21(1){(b). They were only allowed to
make changes in and about a stream in accordance with an approval and were not
only required to exercise reasonable care to avoid damaging land and other
property, but were obliged to make full compensation to owners for damage or loss

resulting from any of the works that they implemented.

[317] In other words, s. 21(1)(b) means what it says: if the construction,
maintenance, use, or operation of the works fail, full compensation must be made by
the approval holder. Even if reasonable care is taken, the holder of the approval is
still liable to make full compensation to those who meet the definition of “owners” for

any damage incurred from implemented works.
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[318] “Works” as defined include “obstructions placed in or removed from streams
or the banks or beds of streams” as well as “changes in and about a stream” which
include “any activity or construction within a stream channel that has or may have an

impact on a stream or stream channel”.

[319] As approval holders, both the District and the McLaughlins are strictly liable to
Vinco and Waterway as “owners” for damage caused by the Channel Restoration
and McLaughlin Bridge Replacement. Vinco and Waterway are the only plaintiffs
that have a potential claim under s. 21 of the Water Act because they are the only

ones who meet the definition of “owner” under the Water Act.

[320] They have two available causes of action: (1) against the McLaughlins as the
holders of the McLaughlin Bridge Approval (it was admitted at trial that even though
the approval is in Mr. McLaughlin’s name only, it was issued to both) and (2) against
the District as the holder of the Channel Restoration Approval.

b. Discussion
i. The Channel Restoration Approval

[321] The Channel Restoration resulted from a mandate issued by the Province to
fund what was required to restore the creek bed to its pre-1997 Flood condition.
There was no funding for any additional work. It is clear that the District reluctantly
agreed to undertake the Channel Restoration.

[322] The District was motivated to negotiate with the Province for a lower height
for the McLaughlin Bridge due to Ms. Maurer's concerns and also the cost
associated with raising Mervyn Road. The McLaughlin Bridge height issue was
holding up the Channel Restoration and Ms. Williams was pressuring the Province to
resolve the matter quickly. By February 4, 1998, she was frustrated and wanted to
bypass the “bureaucratic assessment” of the bridge elevation. She was “reluctant to
debate the issue further considering the potential for political and private property

owner conflict and ramifications”.
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